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Phelps Mill is located within Maine Township, Ottertail County.
The town of Maine, Minnesota is located two miles north of Phelps Mill
on County Road #45, The site is in the NW%NW% Section 35, T134N, R41W,

Phelps Mill is situated in a beautiful natural landscape setting.
At a location where the Ottertail River is narrow and swift, the mill
was built into the east bank, Lion Lake, a small spring fed lake, is
situated to the east and empties into Ottertail Rlver just before
the dam,

The water powered mill complex is derived from these components:
the flour mill, the buckwheat and rye mill, the turbine houses, later
additions and the dam,

The flour mill stands four stories tall and measures thirty-siX::)
feet long by thirty-five wide, The building is framed with hand-hewn
timbers and covered with wood clapbda¥d planks painted white. The
bottom story restson massive wooden pilings pounded down into the

ground, Rectangular window moldings embellish the six-over-six windows. .

and wood shingles cover the gambrel shaped roof, A single brick
chimney is located near the apex of the east gabled wall and round
‘ball finials are positioned at either end of the peaked roof,

The machinery within the flour mill originally consisted of rollers,
round wheels, scalpers, a centrifugal, purifiers, dust collectors,
separators, extractors, and smutters, A large amount of this equipment
still remains within the structure,

The buckwheat and rye mill was added to the north side of the flour
mill in 1895, This mill addition stands three stories tall and measures
thirty-six feet long by twenty-five feet wide. This building is
timber framed and covered with red painted pressed metal siding,
Rectangular window moldings with pressed metal entablature embellish
the six-over-six sash windows, The roof is a tarred, flat slanting
surface which slopes to the west, A single brick chimney is positioned
on the east central edge of the roof,

The turbine houses are two individual one story additions positioned
on the west elevation, The iron girders are riveted to the wood
pilings to support the oak sluicebox and framing of engine houses that
encloses the machinery., The upper portion of the englne house is
clapboarded and the roof wood shingled.

Later additions to the mill structure include a one story sloped
shed roof that extends the full length of the eastern elevation, a
steamboiler, radiators, a four story chimney and an office appendage
positioned on the south facade. The one story office addition is
woodframed and covered with pressed metal sheeting which is presently
painted white,
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The location for the present mill and dam on the Ottertail Riwver
(Maine Township, Ottertail County) was purchased by William E.*Thomas
in 1886, The next year was spent constructing a dam, however, it
was not until 188 at work begam on the erection of the mill,

The flour mill took eight months to econstruct and by December
of 1889 '"The Maine Roller Mills'" began ‘operation. The flour mill
was désigned to grind at a capacity of sixty to seventy-five barrels
a day and produce various grades of flour as "patent, straight,
bakers, and low grade flour...brands of flour it ground included
'Gold Foil Patent', 'Silver Leaf Fancy', and 'Baker's Choice'. nl

Business boomed from the beginning for William E, Thomas and
it lasted until he sold the operatiom., A three story mill addition
was built in 189SV;D meet the demands for grinding feed, buckwheat
and rye,

The wood dam, which was bﬁiifliﬁ 1887,'dé§e10ped éérioué leaks
- in 1908 and was replaced by the concrete and rubble rock dam that
stands today.

Ray Phelps was the head miller from 1906 until the mill closed
in 1939 %nd his long influential association with the mill brought
about the mill's local name. William E, Thomas sold the operation
in 1920 to the Farmers Merchantile Company for $33,500,00. Various
factors influenced his decision to sell but the realization that
commercial milling was outstripping the available market is likely
the deciding factor, The Farmers Merchantile Company struggled
unsuccessfully with Phelps Mill until 1928, when it was sold to
H.G. Everson who paid $10,500,00 for the property. Unfortunately for
Everson, the situation deteriorated to a point that the milling
operation was shut down permanently,

Phelps Mill stood abandoned for twenty-six years until the
Ottertail County Board purchased the property in 1965 for parkland.
The mill is now a very popular tourist attraction set in its
beautiful natural surroundings., A great deal of time and effort
has gone into stabilizing and rebuilding of Phelps Mill through
the efforts of the Ottertail County Board who is sponsored through
private, county and state funding.

1., Bergantine, Rosanne, Phelps: A Peak Into Its Past, p. 4.
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7. Description

The dam is upstream from the mill and originally built of wood in
1887. This dam was replaced in 1908 with concrete, rubble stone and
steel and is presently undergoing repair,

The mill stood empty for twenty-six years after it proved unprofit-
able to operate, Yet, the‘building has resisted the onslaught of
weather, souvenir hunters and vandals, The Ottertail County Board
purchased the property in 1965 and the complex is being stabilized and
under a restoration in conjunction with the development of Phelps Mill
County Park,

8. Significance

The Phelps Mill is significant, therefore, as a representative of
pioneer agricultural industry in Ottertail County during the last decade
of the nineteenth century. Whereas other mills in the county have been
extensively modernized or demolished or deteriorated through disuse,
the Phelps Mill has remained relatively intact and is presently under-
going preservation work to insure its future, Plans for the site
indicate development of an on-going program for the interpretation of
the milling 1ndustry and its role in the agricultural development of
the county.
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